2009-KA-00596-COAT

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

The undersigned Counsel of Record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of this Court may evaluate possible disqualification or refusal:

- 1. Gary Tubby, Defendant-Appellant;
- 2. Julie Ann Epps, counsel for Appellant on appeal;
- 3. James E. Smith, III, counsel for Appellant at trial;
- 4. The State of Mississippi, Jim Hood, AG.;
- 5. Robert Brooks and Steven Kilgore ADAs attorneys for state at trial;
- 6. Honorable Marcus D. Gordon, Circuit Judge.

This, the 22nd day of January, 2010.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN ALLOWING THE STATE TO AMEND THE INDICTMENT AS TO THE NAME OF THE OWNER OF THE PROPERTY.
- II. CUMULATIVE PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT REQUIRES REVERSAL
- III. THE JURY VERDICT IS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

(i) Course of the Proceedings and Dispositions in the Court Below:

Willie Wayne Tubby and Gary Tubby, II, were indicted in the Circuit Court of Neshoba County for burglary of a dwelling with intent to steal on or about August 8, 2008. RE 8. They were tried by jury, the Honorable Marcus D. Gordon, presiding. At the close of the case, the trial judge dismissed the case again Willie Wayne Tubby. Gary Tubby was convicted of the charge in the indictment. RE 5.

Tubby, a nineteen year old, first offender, was sentenced to serve 11 years in the Mississippi Department of Corrections. RE 6-7. His Motion for New Trial was overruled. R.I/24. He timely appealed his conviction. R.I/28-29.

(ii) Statement of Facts:

Around noon on August 8, 2008, Denise Goodin was at her home on Road 602 in Neshoba County because one of her children was sick. She noticed a car that was behaving suspiciously and called her father who lived nearby. She saw two men exit the car, but she could not identify them. R.II/18-20.

Her father called her and said that two men were breaking into the mobile home across the road from her. Shortly thereafter, the police arrived. After talking to her father, she called 911R.II/22-23. The mobile home is several hundred yards off the road, and she did not see anyone breaking into the trailer because a row of bushes obscured her view of the trailer. R.II/24.

Richard Hamilton, Ms. Goodin's father, investigated and found a car parked on a road near some land owned by his aunt. R.II/28. He wrote down the tag number and called his daughter and told her to all the police. R.II/29. He then investigated further. Because he knew that the "Haynes" did not come there very often, he went to the trailer because he believed they might be trying to break in there. R.II/29.

He pulled up to the trailer on the south side of the house and went around to the back of the trailer. He first saw Willie Tubby standing outside about four or five feet from the back door.

R.II/30-31.

According to him, when he looked up, he saw Gary Tubby come out the back door. He told Gary to stop, and when he did not, Hamilton said, "'Stop or I'll shoot.'" R.II/32. Hamilton testified that when both turned and ran, he shot in the air. R.II/32. He chased them and shot into the air again two or there times. He located Willie Tubby hiding in the roadbed and took him back to the trailer where they waited for the sheriff's deputies to arrive. R.II/33.

A photograph of the trailer (Exhibit D-1) shows that the door opens from the north side of the trailer. Consequently anyone standing on the south side of the trailer would not be able to see anyone standing on the steps or just inside the house if the door was open as Mr. Hamilton testified. R.II/38.

Jeff Hames testified that his name was Jeff "Hames," not "Haynes" as charged in he indictment. R.II/51. He owned the trailer located at 1110 Road 602. He also has another home in Pelahatchie. R.II/47. He was not staying at the trailer at the time of the alleged burglary. Someone called and let him know what had happened. R.II/49. He came and checked the trailer,

and nothing was missing or disturbed inside the house. The back door was messed up. He has not repaired it yet, he just fastens it on the inside. R.II/52.

Ralph Sciple, an investigator for the Neshoba County Sheriff's Department, got the call about 2:00 and went to the trailer. Mr. Hamilton had Willie Tubby in custody, and the deputies caught Gary Tubby a little way down the road. R.II/54.

He placed Gary Tubby in his truck and brought him back to the trailer where he advised him of his rights. No one else was present in the truck. After being given his Miranda warnings, Tubby said "that he had been riding with Willie Tubby and that it was his idea to break into something and to steal something to sell." R.II/83.

Subsequently, Sciple questioned Tubby again on August 11th at his office at the sheriff's office. Again, no one else was present. According to him, Tubby made the following statement which Sciple wrote out and Tubby signed:

I had been drinking Friday 8/8/08. I don't remember much. I remember that me and Wayne Tubby were together and it was my idea to break into something to get something to sell for money. Me and Wayne went to this trailer. I opened the back door with my knife and then someone came around the trailer and said, Stop, and I ran.

R.II/88.

Sciple did not recover any fingerprints or any other evidence from inside the trailer showing that Gary Tubby had entered the trailer. R.II/91.

Sciple testified that the door of the trailer opens to the outside toward the south where Hamilton said he was. Gary Tubby never said he went inside the trailer. R.II/92.

Willie Tubby gave the following written statement:

On Friday me and Gary were looking for some broken A.C. We saw two in front of a trailer. I parked my car in a little road, got out to go ask. Nobody was there. Gary went around back and I heard a noise and went to go see. It was Gary trying to get into the back door. That's when I heard a car door close and someone said, "Stop or I'll shoot." I got pushed out of the way and fell into the bushes two times.

R.II/92.

After the close of the state's case, the prosecutor moved to amend the indictment to show that the last name of the owner of the property was "Hames" rather than "Haynes." Counsel for the defendants objected to the amendment because they had spent considerable time and effort trying to locate property owned by "Jeff Haynes" but were unable to do so and because the amendment was one of substance. R.II/101. The trial judge overruled the objection holding:

The objection is overruled. It's an amendment as to the form, not to the substance of the indictment. You may do so. Whenever you ask to do it by interlineation, you've got to give the Court a little short order permitting that.

R.II/101. The trial court then overruled the Defendants' motions for directed verdict. R.II/102.

Gary Tubby testified that he and Willie were walking down the road picking up cans when they saw the trailer. R.II/106. He went to the back of the trailer to urinate. He thought he saw some cans he could collect, so he went over to check. When he did so, he thought he saw someone in the trailer. He went to the door and knocked. "He messed with [the door but didn't get it open." That was when Mr. Hamilton shot directly at him. R.II/103-04. He did not get inside the trailer. R.II/104.

After the close of the defendants' case, the trial court sustained Willie Tubby's motion to dismiss the case against him and overruled Gary Tubby's motion. R.II/ 113-14.

The jury found Gary Tubby, "guilty as charged." RE 5.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court committed reversible error in allowing the state to amend the indictment as to the name of the owner of the property. Cumulative prosecutorial misconduct requires reversal.

The jury verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN ALLOWING THE STATE TO AMEND THE INDICTMENT AS TO THE NAME OF THE OWNER OF THE PROPERTY.

A. Standard of Review:

Whether an indictment is defective is an issue of law requiring de novo review. *Conley v. State*, 790 So.2d 773, 781 (Miss. 2001).

B. The Merits:

No principle of procedural due process is more clearly established than that notice of the specific charge, and a chance to be heard in a trial on the issues raised by that charge . . . are among the constitutional rights of every accused. *Cole v. Arkansas*, 333 U.S. 196, 201, 68 S.Ct. 514, 517, 92 L.Ed.2d 644, 647 (1948); *Tarpley v. Estelle*, 703 F.2d 157, 160 (5th Cir. 1983).

The standard governing the sufficiency of the indictment is well-settled. An indictment must contain:

- 1. the essential elements of the offense charged;
- 2. sufficient facts to fairly inform the defendant of the charge against which he must defend;
- 3. sufficient facts to enable him to plead double jeopardy in the event of a future prosecution for the same offense. *Hamling v. United States*, 418 U.S. 87, 177, 94 S.Ct. 2887, 2907, 41 L.Ed.2d 590 (1974); *Love v. State*, 52 So.2d 470, 472 (Miss. 1951) ["must charge all of the essential elements of the statutory crime, and is void for failure to do so"].

These requirements are grounded in several fundamental constitutional rights of the defendant. First, the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article 3, Section 26 give the accused the right to be informed of "the **nature and cause** of the accusation [emphasis added]." *Wilson v. State*, 221 So.2d 100, 104 (Miss. 1969) [Section 26 requires

statement of essential elements]; *State v. Sam*, 154 Miss. 14, 122 So. 101, 102 (1929) [Section 26 providing that the accused is entitled to be informed of the nature and cause of the accusation requires that the indictment allege the essential elements of the offense].

In addition, due process notions of fundamental fairness require basic notice of the events for which a defendant must answer in court. *U.S.Const.*, Amend. V and XIV. *Miss.Const.*, Art 3, Section 14.

Likewise, Article 3, Section 27 of the Mississippi Constitution requires indictment by grand jury in felony cases. *See, also, U.S.Const.*, Amend. V; *Rhymes v. State*, 638 So.2d 1270, (Miss. 1994) [Section 27 requires an indictment for felonies so that only a grand jury can amend essential elements of the offense].¹

Moreover, the Fifth Amendment and Art. 3, Section 22 protect a defendant from being twice put in jeopardy for the same offense by requiring that all essential legal and factual elements of the offense be set forth in the indictment. *Russell v. United States*, 369 U.S. 749, 82 S.Ct. 1038, 8 L.Ed.2d 240 (1962); *Rutherford v. State*, 196 Miss. 321, 17 So.2d 803, 804 (1944).

As a general rule, the requirement that the indictment contain the essential elements of the crime may be satisfied by pleading the offense "in the words of the statute" **so long as** those words fully, directly, expressly, without any uncertainty or ambiguity, set forth all the elements necessary to constitute the offense.² Hamling v. United States, 418 U.S. at 117, 94 S.Ct. at 2907; Love v. State, 52 So.2d at 471.

¹ Neither the prosecutor nor the trial judge can alter the indictment to fit the proof. *United States v. Prejean*, 494 F.2d 495 (5th Cir. 1974). Another purpose of the indictment is to inform the court of the facts alleged, so that it may decide whether they are sufficient in law to support a conviction, if one should be had. For this, facts are to be stated, not conclusions of law alone. A crime is made up of acts and intent; and these must be set forth in the indictment, with reasonable particularity of time, place and circumstances. *United States v. Cruikshank*, 92 U.S. (2 Otto) 542, 558, 23 L.Ed. 588 (1876).

² "In an indictment upon a statute, it is not sufficient to set forth the offence in the words of the statute, unless those words of themselves fully, directly, and expressly, without any uncertainty

There is an exception to this rule, however. While the statutory language may be used "in the general description of an offence, but it must be accompanied with such a statement of the facts and circumstances as will inform the accused of the specific offence, coming under the general description with which he is charged [emphasis added]." United States v. Hess, 124 U.S. 483, 487, 8 S.Ct. 571, 31 L.Ed. 516, 518 (1974); Russell v. United States, 369 U.S. 749, 764, 82 S.Ct. 1038, 8 L.Ed.2d 240, 251 (1962) ["Where guilt depends so crucially upon such a specific identification of fact, our cases have uniformly held that an indictment must do more than simply repeat the language of the criminal statute"]; Spears v. State, 175 So.2d 158, 162 (Miss. 1965) ["While the language of the statute is general in its terms, when you come to the offense, specific acts should be alleged, which acts on their face show a violation of the law"].

To this end, Rule 7.06, UCCCR, states that an "indictment shall be a plain, concise and definite written statement of the *essential facts* constituting the offense charged and shall *fully* notify the defendant of the nature and cause of the accusation [emphasis added]."

Put another way,

It is an elementary principle of criminal pleading, that where the definition of an offense, whether it be at common law or by statute, "includes generic terms, it is not sufficient that the indictment shall charge the offense in the same generic terms as in the definition; but it must state the species--it must descend to particulars."

United States v. Cruikshank, 92 U.S. 542, 558 (U.S.1875).

For example, this Court has held that it is not sufficient to charge merely that the defendant burglarized a dwelling; the indictment must charge the specific ownership of the building.³ Crosby v. State, 191 Miss. 173, 2 So.2d 813 (1941). Moreover, the Court has held that

or ambiguity, set forth all the elements necessary to constitute the offence intended to be punished." *United States v. Carll*, 105 U.S. 611, 612, 26 L.Ed. 1134 (1881).

Burglary requires that the breaking and entering be of a building owned by another.

the ownership of the dwelling is an essential element of the offense of burglary which must be pled and proved as charged by the grand jury. *Wright v. State*, 94 So. 716, 717 (Miss. 1923).

Because it is an essential element of the offense, the ownership of the building is not one of form, but rather is one of substance. Amendments of substance may be made only by the grand jury. *Quick v. State*, 569 So.2d 1197, 1199 (Miss. 1990).

Although it deals with a constructive amendment, rather than a formal amendment, the case of Stirone v. United States, 361 U.S. 212 (1960) is instructive in showing what sorts of amendments will be allowed to an indictment regarding facts which are pled regarding essential elements of the offense. In Stirone, the defendant was charged with interference with interstate commerce under the Hobbs Act by extortion. The indictment charged as the interstate commerce nexus, the importation of sand into Pennsylvania to be used in the construction of a steel mill. After the trial began, the government was allowed to produce evidence and to argue that the extortion also impacted the exportation of steel from Pennsylvania. The jury was charged that Stirone's guilt could rest either on a finding that the sand was imported from another state or that the concrete into which it went was used to build a steel mill which would ship steel out of the state. The Court held that the district judge erred in allowing the prosecution to alter the basis on which Stirone could be convicted. "Although the trial court did not permit a formal amendment of the indictment, the effect of what it did was the same. And the addition charging interference with steel exports here is neither trivial, useless, nor innocuous [emphasis added]." Stirone, 361 U.S. at 217.

Most courts have held that while not all changes in the indictment require grand jury action, the central question to be determined is whether the alteration is such as to alter the legal or factual elements necessary to prove an essential element of the offense. This distinction is set out thoroughly in *United States v. Adams*, 778 F.2d 1117 (5th Cir. 1985). Although *Adams*, again

is a case involving a constructive amendment rather than a formal amendment, the analysis is the same. *Stirone*, 361 U.S. at 217. The Court of Appeals in *Adams* described the analysis as follows:

Stirone requires that courts distinguish between constructive amendments of the indictment, which are reversible per se, and variances between indictment and proof, which are evaluated under the harmless error doctrine. The accepted test is that a constructive amendment of the indictment occurs when the jury is permitted to convict the defendant upon a factual basis that effectively modifies an essential element of the offense charged.... In such cases, reversal is automatic, because the defendant may have been convicted on a ground not charged in the indictment.... If, on the other hand, the variation between proof and indictment does not effectively modify an essential element of the offense charged, "the trial court's refusal to restrict the jury charge to the words of the indictment is merely another of the flaws in trial that mar its perfection but do not prejudice the defendant." [citations omitted and emphasis added.]

Adams, 778 F.2d at 1123. In Adams, the Court reversed where the indictment charged the defendant with falsifying an application for a firearm by giving a false name, but the proof and the instructions added the falsification of the defendant's address. Altering the indictment to allow conviction on a different **factual basis** was found to be an improper amendment of the indictment because it altered an essential factual element of the offense.

That is precisely what occurred here. The trial court allowed the prosecution to amend the factual basis of an essential element of the offense. Such amendments are reversible without inquiry into prejudice because it means that the defendant was convicted on a charge not made by the grand jury. Lester v. State, 692 So.2d 755, 775 (Miss. 1997) [quoting "Stirone v. United States, 361 U.S. 212, 80 S.Ct. 270, 4 L.Ed.2d 252 (1960)(in which the Supreme Court held that amending the essential facts in the indictment was reversible error per se without any inquiry

into prejudice"], overruled on other grounds in *Weatherspoon v. State*, 132 So.2d 158 (Miss. 1999).⁴

As this Court held in Rhymes v. State, 638 So.2d 1270, 1275 (Miss. 1994):

It is well settled in this state ... that a change in the indictment is permissible if it does not materially alter facts which are the essence of the offense on the face of the indictment as it originally stood or materially alter a defense to the indictment as it originally stood so as to prejudice the defendant's case. Wilson v. State, 574 So.2d 1324 (Miss.1990) citing Ellis v. State, 469 So.2d 1256, 1258 (Miss.1985), quoting from Shelby v. State, 246 So.2d 543, 546 (Miss.1971) [emphasis added].

Here, the prosecution, over the Defendant's objection, was allowed to alter facts which are the essence of the offense. Such an amendment was one of substance and prejudiced the defense by requiring them to comb the countryside for a non-existent owner of the dwelling. R.II/101. The amendment of the indictment; therefore, requires reversal.

II. CUMULATIVE PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT REQUIRES REVERSAL.

A. Standard of Review:

Because no objection was made to the complained of errors, review is under the plain error standard.

B. The Merits:

It should be obvious that the principal issue with regard to the jury's decision was witness credibility. More specifically, the jury had to decide if Tubby was telling the truth about whether or not he entered the building or if Hamilton was telling the truth or was mistaken about whether or not he saw Tubby inside the building. This is so because no person other than Hamilton put Tubby inside the building; nor did Tubby's own statements to the Investigator do so. Moreover,

⁴ Lester also hold that failure to request a continuance does not bar the Court from considering the issue because the "trial court would still have lacked the authority to amend the indictment, even if a continuance had been granted." *Id.*, 692 So.2d at 775.

Willy Tubby's statement does not place Tubby in the house but only on the porch attempting to open the door.

Tubby argued that because Hamilton had fired his weapon at Tubby, Hamilton had a motive to tailor his testimony to put Tubby inside the house so that Hamilton would not be subject to being charged with unlawfully discharging his firearm. R.II/125-26. At trial, the prosecution made several egregious arguments which had a seriously negative impact on the jury's decision and denied Tubby his right to a fair trial.

First of all, most seriously, the prosecutor argued that "[Gary Tubby] didn't steal anything. Do you know why? Thank God for good neighbors. Mr. Hamilton isn't facing any charges and he never will face any charges stemming from this incident [emphasis added]." R.II/130.

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