IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

GARY TUBBY, II

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2009-KA-0596-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JEFFREY A. KLINGFUSS
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
MISSISSIPPI BAR

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

During trial, it was determined that the victim's surname was incorrect. The prosecution rectified this by filing a motion to amend the indictment to insert the correct name of the victim, and the court granted this motion. As settled Mississippi jurisprudence holds, this was merely a change in form to the indictment, not substance, and was completely proper. Contrary to what defendant asserts, this change did not prejudice him.

II.

DEFENDANT IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED FROM RAISING ANY ISSUE WITH REGARD TO ALLEGED PROSECUTOR MISCONDUCT; ALTERNATIVELY, AND WITHOUT WAIVING ANY PROCEDURAL BAR, THE PROSECUTOR DID NOT COMMIT MISCONDUCT

Since the defendant failed to contemporaneously object to any of the alleged instances of prosecutor misconduct, or even mention them in his motion for a new trial, he is procedurally barred from raising this issue on appeal. Alternatively, and without waiving any procedural bar, all of the alleged instances of prosecutor misconduct were, in fact, proper.

III. THE JURY VERDICT IS NOT AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE

Defendant's sole contention on this point of error is that because an eyewitness did not actually see defendant inside the trailer, his testimony that the defendant came from inside the trailer should have been ignored by the jury. The credibility of this witness, and his testimony that the defendant was inside the trailer prior to being seen by him, was for the jury to weigh. Accordingly, the jury believed that the only place defendant could have been prior to being seen by this witness was inside the trailer. It did not believe that defendant was just standing outside of the door he just forcibly opened.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE AMENDMENT TO THE INDICTMENT TO CORRECT THE PROPERTY OWNER'S SURNAME WAS ONE OF FORM, NOT SUBSTANCE, THEREFORE IT WAS PROPERLY SUSTAINED BY THE TRIAL COURT

As the determination of whether to grant the indictment was within the sound discretion of the trial judge, the proper standard of review is abuse of discretion, not *de novo* as defendant states. Regardless, the granting of the amendment to the indictment was proper under any standard of review.

During the testimony of the owner of the burglarized property, it was learned that his surname was incorrectly known to the parties as "Haynes," rather than "Hames." (Trial Tr. vol. 2, 51-53). To remedy this mistake, the prosecutor properly moved to amend the indictment after the close of its case, which the court granted through an order to amend the indictment. (Trial Tr. vol. 2, 100-101; Trial Tr. vol. 1, 17). In granting the motion, the trial judge noted that it was one of form, not substance and would not prejudice the defendant in any way. (Trial Tr. vol. 1, 101). Defense counsel's objection to the motion was overruled. *Id*.

Defendant's argument, much like the amendment to the indictment is one of form, not substance. For all of defendant's quotations, citations and assertions, settled Mississippi jurisprudence on this exact matter has apparently been ignored by him.

"Mountains of case law out of our Mississippi courts speak to the issue of

amending indictments to reflect the true names of parties." *Stradford v. State*, 771 So.2d 390, 395 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000) (citing *Evans v. State*, 499 So.2d 781 (Miss. 1986); *Bingham v. State*, 434 So.2d 220 (Miss. 1983); *Jones v. State*, 279 So.2d 594 (Miss. 1973); *McDole v. State*, 229 Miss. 646, 91 So.2d 738 (1957); *Gillespie v. State*, 221 Miss. 116, 72 So.2d 245 (1954); *Burson v. State*, 756 So.2d 830 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000)). Indeed, this was settled by the Supreme Court of Mississippi as far back as 1876. *Miller v. State*, 53 Miss. 403, 1876 WL 5102 (Miss. 1876) (holding that order to amend indictment to correct the victim's name was proper; *rev'd* because not every instance of victim's name was amended).

To use this Court's previous reasoning on this subject,

Mississippi Code Ann. §99-17-13...explicitly makes it possible for a party to amend an indictment where the change is to be an immaterial matter and the defendant will not be prejudiced in his defense. Jackson v. State, 450 So.2d 1081, 1082 (Miss. 1984); Bingham, 434 So.2d at 223; Evans, 425 So.2d at 1044-45. See also Van Norman v. State, 365 So.2d 644, 647 (Miss. 1978); Jones, 279 So.2d at 650-51; Shelby v. State, 246 So.2d 543, 545 (Miss. 1971); Bennett v. State, 211 So.2d 520, 522 (Miss. 1968); Gillespie, 221 Miss. At 118, 72 So.2d at 246. In other words, if an amendment is made in an indictment, it must be one of form, not substance, to be acceptable. Rhymes v. State, 638 So.2d at 785; Akins v. State, 493 So.2d 1321 (Miss. 1986); Contreras v. State, 445 So.2d 543, 545 (Miss. 1984); Hannah v. State, 336 So.2d 1317, 1321 (Miss. 1976); Sanders v. State, 313 So.2d 398, 401 (Miss. 1975). The test for whether the amendment is form or substance is "[w]hether or not a defense under the indictment or information as it originally stood would be equally available after the amendment is made." 42 C.J.S. Indictments and Information § 240, page 1250 (1944); Bingham, 434 So.2d at 223.

Stradford, 771 So.2d at 395-96.

In addition, section 99-17-13 of the Mississippi Code gives as an example of items that may be amended because they are of form and not substance, "the name or description of any person...therein stated or alleged to be the owner of any property, real or personal, which shall form the subject of any offense charged therein." *Id.* (quoting Miss. Code Ann. §99-17-13). Clearly this directs that the amendment in this case was proper under the statute and case law.

Defendant's brief cites to *Wright v. State*, 94 So.2d 716, 717 (Miss. 1923), to support the assertion that "ownership of the dwelling is an essential element of the offense of burglary," but the defect in the *Wright* indictment was that it only gave the name of a partnership that owned the building, not the individuals comprising the partnership. *Id.* Further, defendant broadly asserts that the ownership of the building is an essential element of burglary, but any outside support for this contention is conspicuously lacking. The burglary statute, section 97-17-23 of the Mississippi Code, only refers ownership in that the "dwelling house [be owned] by another." Frankly, it makes no difference whether a Mr. "Haynes" or a Mr. "Hames" owned the house; it would in no way prejudice the defendant or hinder the State from proving all elements of the offense charged.

Defendant also states that this Court "has held that it is not sufficient to charge merely that the defendant burglarized a dwelling; the indictment must charge the specific ownership of the building." (Def.'s Br. at 7) (citing *Crosby v. State*, 191 Miss.

173, 2 So.2d 813 (1941)). *Crosby* is readily distinguishable from this case in that there was no statement of ownership in that indictment, whereas in the case *sub justice* there was a statement of ownership, misspelled as it may have been. Defendant apparently missed the part of the opinion in *Crosby* wherein the Court stated that if there had been an incorrect statement of ownership, an amendment to the indictment would have sufficed to remedy the mistake. *Id.* at 814.

Defendant argues that it was prejudicial because they had to "comb the countryside for a non-existent owner of the dwelling." (Def.'s Br. at 10). The defense apparently had no trouble finding the burglarized home since they were able to present a picture of it as an exhibit. (Def.'s Exhibit D-1). The defense knew the address of the home, and defendant himself admitted to being there in his own statements. (State's Exhibit 2; Trial Tr. vol. 2, 82-83). If knowing the correct surname of the owner were so crucial to the defense, they simply had to go to the Neshoba County Tax Assessor's website at http://www.neshobacounty.net/online-services/search-land-records.php, type in the address of the property, which they undoubtedly knew, or could have easily ascertained, and the owner's correct name would have appeared. All of this could have been done in less than a minute from anywhere in the world, and at no cost to defendant.

DEFENDANT IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED FROM RAISING ANY ISSUE WITH REGARD TO ALLEGED PROSECUTOR MISCONDUCT; ALTERNATIVELY, AND WITHOUT WAIVING ANY PROCEDURAL BAR, THE PROSECUTOR DID NOT COMMIT MISCONDUCT

Defendant's second point of error is that there was alleged prosecutorial misconduct. Aside from lacking any merit, this argument can be disposed of summarily as being procedurally barred. It is well-settled precedent in Mississippi jurisprudence that this exact issue is absolutely barred on appeal when no contemporaneous objections were made by defense counsel at trial, and when the alleged misconduct is not stated as a point for a motion for a new trial or directed verdict.

Once again defendant scours the case law from the federal first circuit to the ninth, desperately trying to match precedent to fit his needs. For relevant case law for this point of error, *Davis v. State* makes it clear that "[a] contemporaneous objection must be made to allegedly erroneous comments made during closing argument or the point is waived." 660 So.2d 1228, 1251 (Miss. 1995) (citing *Foster v. State*, 639 So.2d 1263, 1289 (Miss. 1994); *Monk v. State*, 532 So.2d 592, 601 (Miss. 1988); *Gray v. State*, 487 So.2d 1304 (Miss. 1986); *Shavers v. State*, 455 So.2d 1299 (Miss. 1984)). Defense counsel never objected to the prosecutor's alleged misconduct at trial, nor was this point raised in the Motion for New Trial. (Trial Tr. vol. 1-2; Trial Tr. vol. 1, 22). Defendant also admits that there were no contemporaneous objections regarding the

alleged misconduct. (Def.'s Br. at 10, 12, 16).

The Supreme Court of Mississippi has stated that "[a] prosecutor is forbidden from interjecting his personal beliefs regarding the veracity of witnesses during closing argument. By the same token, it is incumbent on defense counsel to raise a proper objection when the offensive language is uttered or waive appellate review of the issue." *Hunter v. State*, 684 So.2d 625, 637 (Miss. 1996) (quoting *Foster v. State* at 1288-89) (internal quotation marks omitted). The court reiterated this in *Weatherspoon v. State*, by holding that without a contemporaneous objection defendant waives appellate review of this matter, and is procedurally barred from raising it for the first time on appeal. 732 So.2d 158, 164 (Miss. 1999) (citing *Johnson v. State*, 477 So.2d 196, 209-10 (Miss. 1985); *Ratliff v. State*, 313 So.2d 386, 388 (Miss. 1975)).

Defendant is correct that if this point of error is not procedurally barred (which it is), the plain error standard would apply. *Foster* at 1289. However, this would only be the case "if [the prosecutor's] argument is so 'inflammatory' that the trial judge should have objected on his own motion the point may be considered." *Gray v. State*, 487 So.2d 1304, 1312 (Miss. 1986) (citing *Griffin v. State*, 292 So.2d 159, 163 (Miss. 1974)). For the sake of argument, and without waiving the procedural bar, the alleged misconduct did not rise to that level. Looking at each instance of alleged misconduct, this becomes apparent.

First, defendant asserts that the prosecutor improperly stated that one of the

witnesses would not face any prosecution stemming from his discharge of a firearm during the defendant's crime. (Def.'s Br. at 11). Defendant only states that this was prejudicial, and puts forth general arguments about how prosecutors should not discuss facts not in evidence, give personal testimony, or personal opinion. (Def.'s Br. at 11-18). During cross-examination of the witness, defense counsel inquired into the legality of the witness's discharge of his firearm. (Trial Tr. vol. 2, 37). When defense counsel made his closing argument he argued that the witness's credibility should be questioned because in his opinion it was illegal for him to shoot his weapon if defendant was not actually inside the home. (Trial Tr. vol. 2, 126). It makes no sense whatsoever that defendant would now find it prejudicial for the prosecution to address this during closing argument. This was the prosecutor's direct response to the line of questioning and the argument of defense counsel. It cannot now be argued that this proportionate response unjustly prejudiced defendant. In short, defendant made his bed; he must now lay in it.

Defendant next alleges that he was prejudiced because the prosecutor elicited testimony from him that he engaged in underage drinking on the day of his arrest, and stated the same during closing argument. (Def.'s Br. at 15). Of course, defendant fails to mention that defense counsel opened this door when he asked defendant questions regarding whether or not he had had any prior encounters with law enforcement. (Trial Tr. vol. 2, 110). In accordance with Mississippi Rule of Evidence 404(a)(1), the

prosecutor rebutted this line of questioning through recross examination. Miss. R. Evid. 404(a)(1); Trial Tr. vol. 2, 110-12. The prosecutor did not enter this line of questioning to prove defendant's conduct in this case, he was merely responding to defendant's attempt to portray himself as a law-abiding citizen, which is completely proper for him to do under the circumstances. According to the Supreme Court of Mississippi, to not allow the State to impeach defendant's assertion that he had never been in trouble would be unfair to the State, and to argue otherwise is "without merit." *Morgan v. State*, 741 So.2d 246, 254-55 (Miss. 1999) (police officer who testified to his good character opened the door to his being questioned regarding brutality allegations not resulting in arrest) (citing *Stewart v. State*, 596 So.2d 851, 853 (Miss. 1992)).

Finally, defendant takes issue with the prosecutor's questions of the defendant regarding the truthfulness of other witnesses. In support of this, defendant takes general principles from case law on this subject arising out of the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals, Iowa, Minnesota, the Second Circuit Court of Appeals, New Mexico, New York, and a law journal article out of Colorado. (Def.'s Br. at 16-17). The only Mississippi case defendant offers is not even on point. The case, *Hart v. State*, only refers to expert testimony, and in fact, the defendant's conviction in that case was affirmed. 637 So.2d 1329 (Miss. 1994). Frankly, the State is unable to see *any* similarities between *Hart* and the case at bar. *Id*. Prior to citing the case in his brief,

defendant references Mississippi Rule of Evidence 608, but that rule is not mentioned once in *Hart*. *Id*.

During cross-examination of defendant, defendant's testimony was clearly not coinciding with what the other witnesses had testified, or with his own written statement to the police. (Trial Tr. vol. 2, 106-10) The only two reasonable conclusions one could draw from this was that either the defendant was lying or all of the other witnesses were lying. It is true that witness credibility is the domain of the jury. *Harris* v. *State*, 970 So.2d 151, 156 (Miss. 2007). Nonetheless, it made logical sense for the prosecutor to ask this of the defendant to provide the jury with the proper basis for determining witness credibility.

Indeed, when confronted with this issue before, this Court has stated that this type of questioning is proper, so long as the foundation for it has been laid by the defendant. *Esco v. State*, 9 So.3d 1156, 1165-68 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008) (prosecutor's questioning defendant as to whether other witnesses were lying was not prosecutorial misconduct)). In *Esco*, the defendant had been asked by the prosecutor whether he had made a particular statement to a police officer, and testified that he had not. *Id.* at 1168. In his response, Esco stated that the officer was lying, rather than simply mistaken. *Id.* It should also be noted that the defense in *Esco* made a contemporaneous objection to this line of questioning, which is lacking in this case. *Id.*

Here, defendant's testimony was in direct contradiction with his written

statement to police and with the sworn testimony of other witnesses. (Trial Tr. vol. 2, 106-10). Just as in *Esco*, it was proper for the prosecutor to elicit testimony from the defendant as to whether the other witnesses were mistaken, or lying. In fact, defense counsel interrupted the prosecutor's questioning to ask that the court instruct the prosecutor to give defendant an opportunity to answer the questions. (Trial Tr. vol. 2, 108).

Again, aside from being procedurally barred from bringing this point of error on appeal, defendant's claim is without merit.

III.

THE JURY VERDICT IS NOT AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE

On this point of error, that the jury verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, the evidence is viewed in the light most favorable to the verdict. *Scott v. State*, 796 So.2d 959, 967 (Miss. 2001) (citing *Esparanza v. State*, 595 So.2d 418 (Miss. 1992)).

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